NO. 23-CV-357

IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

LUKMAN AHMED,

Appellant,

D.C. Superior Court No. 2020-CA-004660-B

v.

BRITISH BROADCASTING CORPORATION, et al.,

Appellees.

On Appeal from the Superior Court of the District of Columbia

BRIEF OF APPELLANT LUKMAN AHMED (CORRECTED)

Date: July 6, 2024 Raymond C. Fay

Bar # 188649

FAY LAW GROUP PLLC

1250 Connecticut Avenue, NW Suite 700

Washington, DC 20036 (202) 263-4604 (tel) (202) 261-3508 (fax) rfay@faylawdc.com

Dionna Maria Lewis

Bar # 219016

District Legal Group, PLLC

700 Pennsylvania Ave, SE Suite 2098

Washington, DC 20003 Phone: (202) 486-3478

Dionna@DistrictLegalGroup.com

Counsel for Appellant Lukman Ahmed

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

On February 22, 2023, the Superior Court of the District of Columbia (Yvonne Williams, J.) issued an Amended Order Granting Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment with respect to all the counts of the complaint, and ordered the case closed. Appendix ("A") 142. All issues were disposed of, rendering the case subject to appeal. A timely notice of appeal of the matter to this Court followed.

ISSUES PRESENTED

- I. Whether the existence of genuine issues of material fact precluded the issuance of summary judgment with respect to the questions of discrimination and pretext.
- II. Whether the Superior Court's discovery rulings deprived Ahmed of essential information to present his claims and unfairly prejudiced him in the summary judgment decision.
- III. Whether the Superior Court erred in not enforcing a settlement between the parties.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 10, 2022, Lukman Ahmed filed his Complaint against British Broadcasting Corporation and BBC Worldwide Americas, Inc. for unlawful race and national origin discrimination and nonpayment of wages, containing three

counts: (1) Violation of the D.C. Human Rights Act ("DCHRA") for Discriminatory Practices, D.C. Code § 2-1402.11(a)-(b); (2) Violation of the DCHRA for Coercion or Retaliation, D.C. Code § 2-1402.61; and (3) Violation of the D.C. Wage Payment and Collection Act ("WPCA"), D.C. Code § 32-1303(1). Compl. ¶ 1, A20. Compl. ¶ 47-64, A26-A28. BBC's Answer to the Complaint was filed on December 8, 2020. A36.

On July 27, 2022, BBC filed its motion for summary judgment on all three counts in the Complaint. A770. Ahmed filed his Opposition to the Motion on August 10, 2022, A1228, A1245, and BBC's Reply was filed on August 17, 2022, A1340, A1348.

By Order dated November 1, 2022, the Superior Court granted summary judgment to BBC with respect to the discrimination and retaliation claims, and denied summary judgment as to the wage claim. A101. BBC moved for reconsideration of the wage claim, A1397, which was opposed by Ahmed, A1423.

On February 22, 2023, the lower court issued an Order granting BBC's motion for reconsideration of the wage claim, A135, and issued an Amended Order granting BBC's summary judgment motion in its entirety, A142.

In the Amended Order, the court summarized its rulings, at 12 (A153):

The Court grants BBC's Motion for Summary Judgement for the following reasons. First, Mr. Ahmed does not plead any facts that establish race or national origin discrimination was a substantial factor in his termination from BBC or that the circumstances surrounding his termination give rise to an inference of discrimination. Second, Mr. Ahmed's retaliation claim fails because he has not shown he was engaged in a protected activity or that he complained about discrimination or discriminatory acts. Third, BBC appears to have had a legitimate, non-discriminatory, non-retaliatory reason for Mr. Ahmed's termination. Fourth, Mr. Ahmed has not provided sufficient evidence that his termination was pretextual and BBC seems to honestly believe its reasons for the termination. And Fifth, Mr. Ahmed has failed to produce sufficient evidence that he was untimely paid wages owed to him in violation of the WPCA.

Summary judgment was preceded by motions practice with regard to discovery disputes and a dispute over whether the case had been settled by agreement of the parties.

Early in the case, after months of discussion between the parties, the parties on June 21, 2021 filed a Consent Motion to Stay, advising the court that the "parties have reached a settlement in principle of the above-captioned lawsuit, subject to final approval from Defendants' representatives." A244. The court granted the motion on June 22, 2021. A63. The parties continued their discussions but did not achieve a final settlement agreement. They then filed a Joint Motion for Continued Stay on August 6, 2021, in light of the continued discussions and a then upcoming mediation, A248. The court granted that motion on August 9, 2021. A75.

The parties again failed to finalize a settlement agreement. On October 7, 2021, Ahmed filed a Motion to Enforce Settlement, A260, A273, A317. BBC opposed the motion on October 21, 2021, A286, and on November 15, 2021, filed a Motion for Sanctions associated with Ahmed's effort to enforce the settlement. A321. Ahmed filed an opposition on November 29, 2021, A335, and BBC filed a reply on December 6, 2021, A345.

In a Sua Sponte Order on December 6, 2021, the court stated that "an evidentiary hearing is necessary" on the pending motions. A74. However, in its Order of January 14, 2022, the court denied Ahmed's motion to enforce the settlement, and denied BBC's motion for sanctions, A79. With respect to settlement enforcement, the court found that Ahmed had not shown by clear and convincing evidence that the unknown, unnamed BBC "committee" had actually approved the settlement.

As to discovery, Ahmed filed a motion to compel discovery on March 23, 2022, A487, and BBC filed numerous motions to compel discovery and to recover fees and costs: March 4, 2022, A352; March 25, 2022, A501; June 3, 2022, A699; and September 30, 2022, A1362. The court in its Omnibus Order of May 12, 2022, A86, granted BBC's motions in part, requiring Ahmed to produce volumes of material relating to his post-BBC employment, his bank accounts, and his charity. Ahmed's motion was denied for the most part with regard to information sought on the

operations and personnel of BBC's Washington, D.C. office, and was granted with respect to communications about Ahmed made by a limited circle of BBC employees in 2018 and 2019.

On September 14, 2022, the court issued a further discovery order, A94, mainly requiring Ahmed to furnish more detailed information from years of bank statements at institutions in the U.S. and in Sudan.

On November 9, 2022, the court issued a discovery order dealing with the fees and costs it had ordered Ahmed to pay BBC in connection with the discovery motions, A129. The court required Ahmed and his counsel to pay \$27,571.97.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Plaintiff, Lukman Ahmed, is a Black, Sudanese journalist who was employed by BBC from 2007 to 2019. Ahmed was hired as an Arabic Service Desk correspondent, based out of the Washington, D.C. Bureau of the BBC. Ahmed dep. 58:10-60:19, A829-A831; Ahmed Decl. 2, A1335.

Shortly after Ahmed began working at the BBC, the other Arabic Desk correspondent left, meaning that Ahmed was now the sole Arabic Desk correspondent in Washington, D.C. Ahmed dep. 60:14-19, A831. Ahmed was also the only Black, Sudanese correspondent in the Washington, D.C. office. Ahmed dep. 210:1-17; 248:19-249:5., A1311, A936-A937; Ahmed Decl. • 6, A1336.

During Ahmed's employment, the BBC had a policy or practice in place to protect reporters from excessive deployment, wherein the BBC did not permit reporters to receive back- to-back deployments. Ahmed dep. 229:9-11, A919. However, this was applied discriminatorily as to Ahmed, as he had to undergo excessive, repetitive deployments. *Id.* 229:9-13, 237:18-238:10, A919, A927-A928; Ahmed Decl 3-8, A1335-A1336. Ahmed continuously brought up the need for additional reporters at the Arabic language desk over many years. Ahmed was in continuous discussion with Sam Farah, *id.* 242:20-243:8, A930-A931, and supervisor Bassam Andari, *id.* 247:6-15, A935, about the need to hire more reporters for the Arabic language desk to alleviate the unfair workload. *Id.* 247:6-248:9, A935-A935; Ahmed Decl. 5, A1336.

Despite his many complaints, Ahmed was only provided with a Producer, Nadia Al Huraimy, but no other Arabic language correspondents were hired at the Washington, D.C. bureau during his employment. Ahmed dep. 60:20-62:1, A831-A833; Ahmed Decl. ¶ 9, A1336.

In September 2019, during the U.N. General Assembly meeting in New York, Ahmed conducted an interview on behalf of the BBC of newly appointed Sudanese Prime Minister Abdalla Hamdok. Ahmed dep. 111:17-112:10, A1309-A1310; Ahmed

Decl. PP 13-15, A1335-A1338.

The following month, while on vacation in Sudan, Ahmed reached out via phone to his supervisor Bassam Andari to obtain approval to engage in a locally televised discussion with Hamdok regarding refugee issues in Darfur, a situation Ahmed was working on through his charity, Malam Darfur Peace and Development ("MDPD"). Ahmed dep. 129:10-130:6, 137:9-19, A864-A865, A872; Ahmed Decl. [*] 16, A1338.

Andari advised Ahmed that as long as he did not accept money, he could proceed with the televised talk. Ahmed dep. 129:10-133:5, A864-A868; Ahmed Decl. P18, A1338-A1339.

On or about November 5, 2019, Ahmed and Prime Minister Hamdok sat down for a locally televised talk in a refugee camp in Darfur, in the Sudan. As Ahmed had advised Andari, it was broadcast over only a small local channel. It was rebroadcast on Sudanese TV and eventually posted online. Ahmed dep. 12:11-22, 118:1-121:3, A855; Ahmed Decl. Pp 17-19, A1338-A1339.

Even though Ahmed had received prior approval from his supervisor, on November 6, 2019, BBC Human Resources informed Ahmed via email that he was being placed on paid administrative leave pending the outcome of an investigation into his activities in Sudan. Ahmed dep. 183:10-186:8, A892-A895.

While Ahmed was still out of the country on vacation with limited access to Wi-Fi and no support of legal counsel, he was required to participate via telephone in a BBC Human Resources interview. *Id.* 181:9-183:5, A890-A892.

Within the week, BBC had concluded its own internal investigation and "found" that Ahmed had violated BBC's Conflict of Interest and Competitive Broadcasting policies alongside its editorial guidelines, and decided to terminate his employment effective immediately on November 12, 2019. *Id.* 107:8-15, 187:5-190:1, A853, A896-A899.

Despite terminating Ahmed's employment on November 12, 2019, it was not until May 2020 that Defendants made a one-time direct deposit payment to Ahmed of \$4,849.55, for wages still owed him, but when asked about it by Ahmed's counsel, failed to explain the purpose of the payment. Fay Decl., filed 22.06.17 ¶ 6, A1452-A1453.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Superior Court erred in granting summary judgment to BBC in the presence of genuine issues of material facts regarding Ahmed's discrimination, retaliation, and wage payment claims. The court ignored or discounted the discriminatory treatment of Ahmed for years as sole occupant of the Arabic language

desk in BBC's Washington, D.C. office responsible for BBC's Arabic TV, radio, and internet coverage in the United States and other parts of the hemisphere. BBC failed to give Ahmed, the only Black African in the office, the support he needed to conduct his work. BBC also overloaded Ahmed with excessive deployments and assignments outside the office in comparison with other correspondents who were not Black or African.

Ahmed suffered further discriminatory treatment when he was summarily terminated from employment by BBC in late 2019 after 12 years of service. BBC falsely claimed that Ahmed, while on leave conducting affairs in Sudan for his charity, took part in a broadcast in competition with BBC—which it was not, in terms of content and the small audience reach--despite the fact that he had obtained permission from BBC to participate. The same supervisors from BBC London who had deprived him of nondiscriminatory working conditions in Washington were key participants in the pretextual dismissal of Ahmed.

In addition, the court improperly granted summary judgment with regard to Ahmed's claim for late payment of wages under D.C. wage law. It was error for the court to disregard Ahmed's evidence of a direct deposit of wages by BBC into his bank account months after his termination.

The lower court abused its discretion in the conduct of discovery, in a manner

that caused unfair prejudice and adversely affected his substantive rights. Among other things, the court refused Ahmed's requests for performance and personnel data on other BBC correspondents in the D.C. office, then issued summary judgment to BBC partly because Ahmed had not made workload comparisons between him and others.

In the alternative, the court erred in not enforcing a settlement agreement between the parties agreed to early in the case. In the circumstances of this case, sufficient authority was displayed to enforce the settlement, especially where BBC failed to show that authority was lacking.

ARGUMENT

Summary judgment should be reversed due to the presence of material facts in dispute amid plaintiff's sound claims of discrimination. Most notably, a jury needs to assess whether Ahmed had engaged in protected activity by complaining of disparate treatment during his employment with BBC, whether Ahmed had sufficiently given notice and received permission from Andari to participate in the talk with Prime Minister Hamdok, whether BBC conducted a fair investigation of Ahmed's non-BBC journalistic activities, and whether the nature of Ahmed's termination demonstrated disparate and discriminatory treatment. Additionally, Ahmed has raised claims under

the District of Columbia Wage Payment and Collection Law ("DCWPCL") regarding his late-paid wages following his termination.

I. SUMMARY JUDGMENT SHOULD BE REVERSED AND THE CASE REMANDED FOR TRIAL.

Summary judgment may be granted only when "the movant shows there is no genuine dispute as to any material fact and the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." D.C. Super. Ct. Civ. R. 56(a). Summary judgment would only be appropriate if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with affidavits, when viewed in the light most favorable to the non-movant, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact. *TIG Ins. Co. v. Sedgwick James*, 276 F.3d 754, 759 (5th Cir. 2002) (citing *Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc.*, 447 U.S. 242, 249-50 (1986)). An issue of fact is "genuine" if the evidence is such that a reasonable fact-finder could find in favor of the non-moving party. *See Celotex v. Catrett*, 477 U.S. 317, 322 (1986).

A. Ahmed established a *prima facie* case of discrimination based upon race and national origin

This Court applies the same analysis under the D.C. Human Rights Act ("DCHRA") as under Title VII with regard to establishing a *prima facie* case of discrimination: To establish a *prima facie* case, the employee must show: 1) he is a

member of a protected class; 2) he suffered an adverse employment action; and 3) the circumstances give rise to an inference of discrimination. *Kumar v. D.C. Water & Sewer Auth.*, 25 A.3d 9, 16-17 (D.C. 2011). A plaintiff's burden of establishing a *prima facie* case is neither "onerous," *Texas Dep't of Community Affairsv. Burdine*, 450 U.S. 248, 253 (1981), nor intended to be "rigid, mechanized or ritualistic." *Furnco Constr. Corp. v. Waters*, 438 U.S. 567, 577 (1978).

Here, there is no dispute that Ahmed is a member of a protected class, he is Sudanese and Black, and suffered an adverse action, his November 12, 2019 termination. "Defs' SUMF" ¶ 1, A794.

The Superior Court found that Ahmed's case failed because he did not present sufficient grounds to give rise to an inference of discrimination. The court disregarded Ahmed's showing regarding the years of understaffing at the Arabic desk, and the excessive deployments and other assignments that had Ahmed, the only Black African in the office, taking on workloads in excess of all other correspondents in Washington—and the complaints he made about the less favorable working conditions that fell on the deaf ears of his superiors.

The court faulted Ahmed's lack of "comparator" evidence showing that colleagues bore lighter workloads or had lighter work schedules out of the office on

deployments or other assignments. Although the court refused to allow Ahmed discovery regarding the workloads and assignments of other correspondents in D.C. and unfairly hampered Ahmed's ability to respond to the summary judgment motion on that basis (*see* Point II, below), Ahmed nonetheless presented sufficient facts to establish an inference of discrimination and avoid summary judgment.

In addition to the work details described below, Ahmed did receive, in the limited discovery allowed by the court, information regarding his assignments in 2018 and 2019. In opposing summary judgment, Ahmed summarized this material. Exhibit 3 to Opposition, A1298-A1301. The summary shows dozens of tightly-packed assignments for radio, TV, and internet coverage, near the home office or at travel destinations in the United States or abroad. Even without the full work records of Ahmed's co-workers, the inference of Ahmed's work overload and lack of support can be inferred from the summary and from the nature of Ahmed's assignment as sole correspondent at the Arabic desk in Washington.

Although comparator evidence is strong and useful to raise the inference of discrimination, it is not essential. The inference of discrimination can be raised based on circumstantial evidence of (1) "more favorable treatment of employees not in the protected group," and (2) "the sequence of events leading to the plaintiff's discharge."

Abdu-Brisson v. Delta Air Lines, Inc., 239 F.3d 456, 468 (2d Cir. 2001); see also Lewis v. City of Union City, 934 F.3d 1169, 1185 (11th Cir. 2019) (summary judgment can be avoided by "a convincing mosaic of circumstantial evidence that would allow a jury to infer intentional discrimination").

Illustrative of the lack of need to present comparator evidence in all cases, the Second Circuit gave the example of "a case where an employer has only one employee." *Abdu-Brisson*, 239 F.3d at 468. "If that employee were fired for a discriminatory reason [...] he could never demonstrate disparate treatment because there is no point of comparison." *Id.* Mindful of the "flexible spirit of a plaintiff's *prima facie* requirement," in such a case a plaintiff can create an inference of discrimination by other evidence, including (1) "more favorable treatment of employees not in the protected group," or (2) "the sequence of events leading to the plaintiff's discharge." *Id.* at 468. As discussed below, Ahmed presented sufficient facts to give rise to an inference of discrimination.

1. BBC's Less Favorable Treatment of Ahmed Compared to Other Washington D.C. Correspondents

Ahmed was the only Black, African (Sudanese) correspondent at the Washington, D.C. bureau and received less favorable treatment than "employees not in the protected group." *See Abdu-Brisson*, 239 F.3d at 468. The BBC's Washington

Bureau had approximately thirty reporters, Ahmed dep. 218:15-17, A909, explicitly organized along linguistic or ethnic categories—an Arabic, English, Persian, and Russian language desks. [*Id.* 230:17-22, A920. The BBC had a policy or practice in place to protect reporters from excessive deployments, *id.* 229:9-13, A919, but Ahmed explained that this policy was applied in a discriminatory fashion. *Id.* 237:18-238:10, A927-A928.

From the Arabic Language Desk, Ahmed was responsible for assignments and deployments covering Washington D.C, the White House, State Department, Capitol Hill, the CIA and other federal agencies, South America, and Canada, *id.* 173:21-174:15, A887-A888, including the internet, radio, and television broadcast. Ahmed dep. 214:1-11, A1315. Ahmed described his schedule as requiring "work 24/7"- he would report breaking news at the top of the hour on television, go to the radio station, file stories for television and radio broadcast, stay up to 11 p.m. to go live for radio, then prepare for breaking events at 5 or 6 a.m. *Id.* 240:14-241:9, A1316-A1317.

As a result, Ahmed described the work load as an "enormous pressure" because he was "the only one that's working with this load." *Id.* 241:11-14, A1285. This caused him to be unable to provide coverage when simultaneous important events

required his attention, in turn hurting his professional relationship with his superior, Sam Farah. [*Id.* 242:20-244:12, A930-A932.

The significant cumulative assignments coming from London added to Ahmed's daily workload, as seen in the summary from his last two years on the job. PSJ Ex. 3, A1330-A1333. The other three language desks collectively had approximately thirty reporters. Ahmed dep. 218:15-17, A909. For example, the English language service had six or seven reporters. *Id.* 232:14-16, A922. The other language desks had a reporter dedicated solely to specific issues, such as only for the White House or specific national stories, such as elections. Ahmed dep. 213:15-21, A1314. And the other language desks, staffed by white reporters, had larger staff with individual reporters dedicated to producing content in a specific medium, whether internet or radio, etc. *Id.* 214:1-11, 241:6-18, A1315, A1317.

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