District of Columbia Court of Appeals



Received 08/07/2024 03:24 PM Resubmitted 08/07/2024 03:31 PM Filed 08/07/2024 03:31 PM

LUKMAN AHMED,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

BRITISH BROADCASTING CORPORATION and BBC WORLDWIDE AMERICAS, INC.,

Defendants-Appellees.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, CIVIL DIVISION, CASE NO. 2020-CA-004660-B, BEFORE THE HONORABLE JUDGES FLORENCE Y. PAN, JOSE M. LOPEZ, AND YVONNE WILLIAMS

BRIEF OF APPELLEES

John T. McDonald* (admitted *pro hac vice*) REED SMITH LLP 506 Carnegie Center Suite 300 Princeton, NJ 08540 Phone: (609) 987-0050 imcdonald@reedsmith.com

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

VI. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Applying the appropriate standards of review, this Court should affirm the correct decisions of the Superior Court. *First*, Chief Judge Lopez correctly exercised his discretion to deny Ahmed's baseless Motion to Enforce Settlement given that Ahmed himself, through counsel, repeatedly admitted a critical condition of settlement was not satisfied—the BBC's approval. *Second*, Judge Williams correctly exercised her discretion to not compel production of requests for certain records that did not comply with Rule 37, did not exist in the format sought, and had no bearing on the case. *Third*, Judge Williams did not err by granting summary judgment in favor of the BBC and dismissing all of Ahmed's claims.

VII. ARGUMENT

A. The Superior Court Correctly Exercised Its Discretion to Deny Ahmed's Baseless Motion to Enforce Settlement Given That Ahmed Himself Admitted a Critical Condition of Settlement Was Not Satisfied—the BBC's Approval.

Even if this Court were to forgive Ahmed's failure to include any statement establishing jurisdiction over Chief Judge Diaz's Order in violation of D.C. Ct. App. R. Proc. 28(a)(5), this Court should affirm that Order on the substance. The Superior Court correctly exercised its discretion to deny Ahmed's baseless Motion to Enforce Settlement given that Ahmed himself admitted that a critical pre-condition of settlement was not satisfied—the BBC's approval. (A79-83.) Likewise, Chief Judge Diaz's decision not to hold an evidentiary hearing and instead decide the motion on the papers, was not only a wholly appropriate exercise of his discretion, but also an entirely sensible preservation of judicial resources. (A80-81.)

First, Ahmed's argument on appeal that Chief Judge Diaz applied the wrong legal standard by requiring Ahmed to establish a settlement by "clear and convincing" evidence is flat wrong. Indeed, Ahmed's own cited authority in *Blackstone* expressly states that "[t]he party moving to enforce the purported agreement bears the burden of showing, by clear and convincing evidence, that the parties in fact formed a binding agreement." *Blackstone v. Brink*, 63 F. Supp. 3d 68, 76 (D.D.C. 2014) (Jackson, J.) (emphasis added). Likewise, Ahmed's argument that the "clear and convincing" evidentiary standard only applies to a hearing and not

motion papers is not only entirely unsupported by *Blackstone*, but also a made-up distinction without a difference. Ahmed completely ignores the reality that when deciding the Motion to Enforce Settlement, Chief Judge Diaz had before him (i) Ahmed's declaration (A270-71), (ii) Ahmed's counsel's declaration and exhibits (A273-84),⁵ (iii) the BBC's counsel's declaration and exhibits (A301-16), and (iv) the parties' joint court filings (A244-46; A248-49)—<u>all</u> which constitute evidence in their own right. Based on that ample evidence, Chief Judge Diaz properly exercised his discretion to deny the Motion to Enforce Settlement determining that Ahmed could not meet his "clear and convincing" burden as to the existence of a settlement in the first instance. *See Proctor v. Liberty Mut. Auto & Home Servs.*, 308 F. Supp. 3d 175, 176-77 (D.D.C. 2018) ("[S]uch a hearing is not necessary if the Court is persuaded on the basis of the briefing that a settlement agreement

⁵ While Ahmed's counsel filed his declaration with the Superior Court under seal given that it contained specific monetary amounts of the parties' settlement discussions and the Superior Court issued an Order sealing that record (A72), in a flagrant disregard for the confidentiality of the record and to harass the BBC on appeal Ahmed has filed Mr. Fay's declaration in open court in his joint appendix. Ahmed's abuse and harassment is intentional as he expressly identifies in his appeal brief that this declaration was "filed under seal by Order dated November 15, 2021, A72." (Br. at 36.) Notably, Chief Judge Diaz expressly warned Ahmed and Ahmed's counsel when sealing this record that "the Court is also cognizant of the fact that the parties have discussed this matter and that the sensitive nature of settlement discussions warrants caution when filing statements relating to such negotiations." (A72.) This Court should promptly grant the BBC's Motion to Seal filed contemporaneously with this brief, and further sanction Ahmed and Ahmed's Counsel for their flagrant disregard of the confidentiality of this record.

exists."). Indeed, Ahmed's own cited authority contradicts his assertion that he was entitled to an evidentiary hearing:

[T]he existence or lack of factual disputes concerning the validity of a settlement agreement cannot, *ex ante*, require that the Court hold an evidentiary hearing to resolve a motion to enforce that agreement. Rather, the Court must first determine whether, despite whatever factual disputes may exist, the moving party has nevertheless carried the burden of proving the existence of a settlement agreement by clear and convincing evidence.

Samra v. Shaheen Bus. & Inv. Grp., Inc., 355 F. Supp. 2d 483, 494 (D.D.C. 2005). Here, Chief Judge Diaz correctly determined a hearing was not necessary given that Ahmed could not meet his burden to show by "clear and convincing" evidence the existence of a settlement.⁶

Second, Chief Judge Diaz correctly concluded that Ahmed failed to meet his burden to show by "clear and convincing" evidence the existence of a settlement given that all of the evidence in the record—including Ahmed's own evidence—indicated any settlement was subject to the BBC's approval and that the BBC never approved such settlement. Specifically, the evidence in the record showed:

_

⁶ Indeed, federal courts routinely apply this same rubric. *See e.g., Hayes v. Safe Fed. Credit Union*, Civil Action No. 3:19-00881, 2020 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 124671, at *4-5 (D.S.C. July 15, 2020) (concluding "there was no settlement agreement to enforce, thus no evidentiary hearing was necessary" because "[t]he hearing is to protect a party from enforcement of a disputed agreement without an opportunity to be heard, rather than resolve a dispute over a Court's determination of the lack of an agreement"); *Tang v. Putruss*, No. 06-12624, 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 74567, at *9 (E.D. Mich. Oct. 5, 2007) (same).

- While Mr. Fay's declaration asserts that a "settlement" was reached during a June 17, 2021 telephone call, in the very same paragraph of his declaration, he admits that on this same phone call the BBC's counsel explained that settlement was "subject to approval" by the BBC's corporate committee. (A274 ¶ 7.)
- Mr. Fay's declaration further admits that the very next day he emailed the BBC's counsel expressly qualifying—in his own words—that "[t]he settlement was subject to BBC corporate approval" (A274-75 ¶ 8).
- Mr. Fay's declaration further admits that on June 21, 2021, the BBC's counsel wrote to say "I expect to hear back regarding whether we have BBC approval by the end of the week." (A275 ¶ 10).
- Mr. Fay's declaration further admits that on June 25, 2021, the BBC's counsel conveyed orally and in writing that the BBC committee did **not** approve the settlement. (A276 ¶ 13).
- The Consent Motion for Stay filed by the parties on June 21, 2021, expressly stated that any settlement was "subject to final approval from Defendants' representatives." (A244.)
- The Joint Motion for Continued Stay filed by the parties on August 6, 2021, expressly stated "[t]o date the Parties have been unable to reach a settlement in the above-captioned lawsuit but are still continuing to talk in earnest." (A248-49.)
- The Joint Status Report filed by the parties on September 16, 2021, expressly stated the parties were still in "settlement discussions" and were attending mediation. (A251-52.)
- The declaration by the BBC's counsel explicitly stated that at no point was any settlement reached or agreed to by the BBC. (A301-02.)

Relying on Mr. Fay's own sworn words, Chief Judge Diaz correctly concluded that any settlement was expressly "subject to approval" by the BBC and that Ahmed failed to show by "clear and convincing evidence that this condition of a settlement

was satisfied." (A80, citing *Blackstone*, 63 F. Supp. 3d at 76.) *See Golden v. Mgmt.*& *Training Corp.*, Civil Action No. 16-1660, 2019 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 198306, at
*11-12 (D.D.C. Nov. 15, 2019) ("When the parties to the agreement themselves are
not certain as to what was negotiated and agreed upon, the Court cannot find that the
burden of proving the meeting of the minds by clear and convincing evidence was
met."). In fact, given that all of the evidence—including Ahmed's own evidence—
supported the BBC's position, Chief Judge Diaz noted it was "a close call" on
whether to sanction Ahmed and his counsel for bringing such a motion in the first
place (albeit Chief Judge Diaz graciously decided not to sanction them). (A81-82.)
Therefore, the Superior Court properly exercised its discretion to deny Ahmed's
Motion to Enforce Settlement and this Court should affirm that correct decision.

B. The Superior Court Correctly Exercised Its Discretion to Not Compel Production of Requests for Records That Did Not Comply with Rule 37, Did Not Exist in The Format Sought, and Had No Bearing on The Case.

Even if this Court were to forgive Ahmed's failure to include any statement establishing jurisdiction over Chief Judge Williams' Omnibus Order in violation of D.C. Ct. App. R. Proc. 28(a)(5), this Court should affirm that Order on the substance.

As a threshold matter, Ahmed asserts on appeal that Judge Williams refusing to compel production of certain deployment records and work schedules prevented him from being able to establish a *prima facie* case of discrimination to defeat summary judgment. (Br. at 13-14, 32-34.) Yet **nowhere** in Ahmed's opposition

papers to the BBC's Motion for Summary Judgment before the Superior Court did Ahmed ever raise such an argument or suggest his defenses were hampered by that discovery ruling. Rather, Ahmed has engineered this argument for the first time on appeal. Therefore, the Court must reject Ahmed's argument as improper being raised for the first time on appeal. *See Thornton v. Norwest Bank of Minn.*, 860 A.2d 838, 842 (D.C. 2004) ("It is fundamental that arguments not raised in the trial court are not usually considered on appeal").

Even were the Court to consider this argument, Judge Williams correctly exercised her discretion to not compel production of certain deployment and/or work schedule records and her decision should be affirmed. See Franco v. District of Columbia, 39 A.3d 890, 896 (D.C. 2012) ("The trial court has broad discretion to weigh the factors in deciding whether discovery should be compelled." (internal quotations and citation omitted)). As an initial matter, Ahmed's characterization of Judge Williams' discovery ruling is incorrect. The reality is that Judge Williams' May 12, 2022 Omnibus Order explicitly references the representations Ahmed's counsel made at the May 11, 2022 hearing as an integral part of her ruling and the Omnibus Order summarizes her rulings from the bench at that hearing. Yet Ahmed entirely omits from his appeal brief this broader context and, despite the BBC's repeated requests, Ahmed refused to obtain or include the May 11, 2022 hearing transcript in the joint appendix. Ahmed's omission is intentional. Judge Williams

Omnibus Order read alongside her rulings from the bench at the May 11, 2022 hearing reveal the baselessness of Ahmed's false assertion of error on appeal. Accordingly, the BBC has obtained and includes the May 11, 2022 hearing transcript in its supplemental appendix.⁷

First, Judge Williams was absolutely correct that Ahmed's Motion to Compel did <u>not</u> comply with the D.C. Rules of Civil Procedure concerning discovery motions, and she properly exercised her discretion to dismiss Ahmed's motion for such failure. Specifically, Rule 37(a)(1)(D) requires:

(D) Format of Motion to Compel. Any motion to compel discovery must set out verbatim the question propounded and the answer given, or a description of the other discovery requested and the response to this request. The motion must also set out the reason or reasons the answer or response is inadequate.

D.C. Super. Ct. Civ. R. 37(a)(1)(D). Despite these explicit requirements, Ahmed's Motion to Compel did not set out <u>any</u> of the disputed interrogatories or document requests, let alone any of the BBC's objections and answers. (A487-500.) Rather, Ahmed's Motion to Compel reads as a convoluted stream of consciousness, that neither identifies what specific answers and/or records he was seeking or how what

⁷ Early in this appeal, after Ahmed's counsel filed his Statement Regarding Transcripts on May 5, 2023, indicating "[n]o transcripts needed for this appeal", the BBC filed a Notice Concerning Appellant's Statement Regarding Transcripts identifying the importance of the May 11, 2022 hearing transcript. Despite this, Ahmed refused to include the May 11th transcript in his joint appendix, forcing the BBC to incur the cost of obtaining the transcript for its supplemental appendix.

the BBC had produced was insufficient. In fact, specifically for Request Nos. 2 and 3 (the only request for which Ahmed focuses on appeal), Ahmed merely argued in his Motion to Compel:

As noted, in Plaintiffs Complaint, he alleges that part of the discriminatory and retaliatory treatment that he was subjected to includes a disproportionate number of deployments, in comparison to non-Black and non-African employees at BBC. See Compl., ¶¶ 36-40. It follows, that in his Request No. 2 and 3, Plaintiff asks about documents responsive to the deployments and work schedules of BBC Washington Bureau personnel during his employment, limited to a start date of 2012. Unsurprisingly, Defendants refuse to respond to each request entirely and deny that such production has any bearing on Plaintiff's claim. See Exh. 5 at 3-4. Additionally, despite Defendants' balking, conditioning production upon the signatures of Plaintiff's counsel to a confidentiality agreement, they now seek to shield production due to its confidential nature, thereby raising questions as to the purpose of their previous delay. Id.

(A495.) Obviously, Ahmed failed to comply with the verbatim requirement of Rule 37. Yet remarkably, Ahmed argues on appeal that Judge Williams "was simply wrong" and that she abused her discretion by denying his motion because he directed the court to Request Nos. 2 and 3 in his brief and attached the full responses as an exhibit. (Br. at 32-33.) Putting aside that Ahmed cites entirely no legal authority whatsoever to support this baseless argument, the reality is that judges on the D.C. Superior Court—just like Judge Williams—routinely and appropriately deny motions to compel where the moving party fails to follow this verbatim requirement in Rule 37. *See e.g., Bet Acquisition Corp. v. District of Columbia*, Civ. Act. Nos. 2018 CA 002023 B, 2018 CA 006351 B, 2019 D.C. Super. LEXIS 118, at *3 (Jul.

10, 2019) (Puig-Lugo, J.) ("[T]he District failed to set out verbatim the question propounded and the answer given to illustrate the reason or reasons the answer or response was inadequate pursuant to Rule 37(D)."); *Bell v. Taplin*, Civ. Act. Nos. 2017 CA 005643 M, 2017 CA 006386 M, 2019 D.C. Super. LEXIS 192, at *4 (Aug. 19, 2019) (Higashi, J.) (same).

Further, as a practical matter, Ahmed's Motion to Compel not only failed to abide by Rule 37 (making the discovery he was seeking unclear), but also at the May 11, 2022 hearing Judge Williams gave Ahmed's counsel an opportunity to articulate what discovery he was seeking with specificity and Ahmed's counsel could not articulate what that was. (SA44-49.) In fact, when Judge Williams gave Ahmed's counsel this opportunity to provide specificity, he responded saying "[s]ome of this has been superseded, I don't know if satisfactorily or not, by the production that [the BBC] did give us after [filing our Motion to Compel]." (SA49-50.) In other words, while Ahmed's counsel was arguing the BBC should produce more records, he was unaware of what records the BBC had already produced and whether or not they were satisfactory. Quite simply, Ahmed's failure to provide clarity and to abide by Rule 37 cannot constitute reversible error. Rather, the Superior Court's denying Ahmed's Motion to Compel for Ahmed's failure to abide by Rule 37 or to provide specificity on the discovery sought, was wholly appropriate and within its discretion, and this Court should affirm that correct decision. (A90-91.)

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